M14A

Edgar Filing: GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES INC - Form PREM
GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES INC Form PREM14A June 21, 2011
UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
SCHEDULE 14A
(RULE 14a-101)
INFORMATION REQUIRED
IN PROXY STATEMENT
SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION
Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Filed by the Registrant x
Filed by a Party other than the Registrant
Check the appropriate box:
x Preliminary Proxy Statement.
Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a- $6(e)(2)$).
Definitive Proxy Statement.
Definitive Additional Materials.
Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12.

GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

(Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if Other than the Registrant)
Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):
No fee required.
x Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies: N/A
(2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies: N/A
Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the (3)amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined): The filing fee was determined based on the \$150,000 total consideration proposed to be paid to GreenMan Technologies, Inc. in the transaction.
(4)Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction: \$150,000
(5)Total fee paid: \$17.42
Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the form or schedule and the date of its filing.
(1) Amount Previously Paid:
(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3) Filing Party:
(4)Date Filed:

PRELIMINARY COPY

GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

7 Kimball Lane, Building A

Lynnfield, Massachusetts 01940

(781) 224-2411

June , 2011

Dear Stockholders:

I am pleased to enclose the proxy statement for our Special Meeting of stockholders to be held on July 29, 2011. We are asking stockholders to approve the sale of our molded rubber products business, operated by our Green Tech Products, Inc. subsidiary, to Irish Knight Holdings, L.L.C. for consideration consisting of (i) the assumption of substantially all of Green Tech Products' liabilities (which were approximately \$1,100,000 at March 31, 2011, including all of Green Tech Products' loans from Great Western Bank, which will be repaid to such bank directly by Irish Knight Holdings), but excluding potential liabilities associated with certain pending litigation; (ii) a \$50,000 stock inventory credit toward the purchase of products and services; and (iii) a promissory note in the principal amount of \$100,000 (the "Transaction").

Based on Green Tech Products' historical performance, our Board of Directors determined it to be in the best interests of shareholder value to exit the molded rubber product business and to devote all of our corporate resources to advancing American Power Group's dual fuel conversion business. On March 8, 2011, our Board adopted a plan to commence an immediate effort to identify potential buyers for Green Tech Products' business and/or evaluate other strategic alternatives.

In addition, our Board of Directors has recommended to the stockholders that we amend our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000 shares. The Board of Directors believes that the authorized common stock should be increased to provide sufficient shares for such corporate purposes as may be determined by the Board of Directors. These purposes may include, among others, the issuance of common stock to facilitate potential mergers or acquisitions, raising capital or acquiring technology rights through the sale of stock, and/or attracting or retaining valuable employees by the issuance of stock options. Except as described above or elsewhere in this proxy statement, we have no plans, understandings, commitments, agreements or undertakings concerning the issuance of any such additional shares. The Board of Directors, however, considers the authorization of additional shares of common stock advisable to ensure prompt availability of shares for

issuance should the occasion arise.
The date, time, place, and agenda for the Special Meeting are set forth in the accompanying notice of Special Meeting. The accompanying proxy statement contains important information about the proposals to be submitted for a vote at the Special Meeting.
Please review this information carefully in deciding how to vote. Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote "FOR" each proposal.
YOUR VOTE ON THESE MATTERS IS IMPORTANT. Please see the accompanying notice of meeting for instructions on how to vote.
I look forward to seeing you at the meeting.
Sincerely,
Lyle Jensen
President and Chief Executive Officer

GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

7 Kimball Lane, Building A

Lynnfield, Massachusetts 01940

(781) 224-2411

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON JULY 29, 2011

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Special Meeting of stockholders (the "Special Meeting") of GreenMan Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("GreenMan," "we" or "us"), will be held on July 29, 2011, at 10:00 a.m., local time at the offices of Morse, Barnes-Brown & Pendleton, P.C., Reservoir Place, 1601 Trapelo Road, Suite 205, Waltham, Massachusetts, 02451. At our Special Meeting we will ask you to:

- Approve the sale of substantially all of the assets of our wholly-owned subsidiary Green Tech Products,
 Inc. that relate to our molded rubber products business (the "Molded Rubber Products Business") pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 13, 2011 between Green Tech Products, Inc. and Irish Knight Holdings, L.L.C.;
- 2. To approve an amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000;
 - Approve one or more adjournments of the Special Meeting, if deemed necessary to facilitate the approval of either
- 3. of the foregoing proposals, including to permit the solicitation of additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the Special Meeting to establish a quorum or to approve such proposals; and
- 4. Transact any other business that may properly come before the Special Meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote "FOR" Proposals 1, 2 and 3 and that you allow our representatives to vote the shares represented by your proxy as recommended by our Board of Directors.

Pursuant to our bylaws, our Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on May 31, 2011, as the record date (the "Record Date") for determining those stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the Special Meeting. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date is required in order to approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business and the proposed amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation. The affirmative vote of holders of a majority of our shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date that are represented in person or by proxy and voting at the Special Meeting is required in order to approve the proposal to authorize the adjournment of the Special Meeting to a later date or dates, if necessary. Each of these proposals is more fully described in the accompanying proxy statement.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,

Lyle Jensen

President and Chief Executive Officer

June ___, 2011

Lynnfield, Massachusetts

A FORM OF PROXY IS ENCLOSED. YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT. IT IS IMPORTANT THAT PROXIES BE RETURNED PROMPTLY. THEREFORE, WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO BE PRESENT IN PERSON AT THE SPECIAL MEETING, PLEASE COMPLETE, SIGN, DATE AND RETURN THE ENCLOSED PROXY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE, WHICH DOES NOT REQUIRE POSTAGE IF MAILED IN THE UNITED STATES. YOUR PROXY MAY BE REVOKED AT ANY TIME BEFORE THE VOTE AT THE SPECIAL MEETING BY FOLLOWING THE PROCEDURES OUTLINED IN THE ACCOMPANYING PROXY STATEMENT. THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY YOUR PROXY WILL BE VOTED ACCORDING TO YOUR SPECIFIED RESPONSE. PROPERLY EXECUTED PROXIES THAT DO NOT CONTAIN VOTING INSTRUCTIONS WILL BE VOTED "FOR" THE APPROVAL OF THE PROPOSALS AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREBY, IF YOU FAIL TO RETURN A PROPERLY EXECUTED PROXY CARD OR TO VOTE IN PERSON AT THE SPECIAL MEETING, THE EFFECT WILL BE A VOTE AGAINST PROPOSALS 1 AND 2 AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREBY, WITH NO EFFECT ON PROPOSAL 3.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Summary	2
Questions and Answers About the Special Meeting and Related Proposals	8
The Special Meeting	11
Forward Looking Statements	13
Risk Factors	14
Proposal No. 1: Approval of the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business	16
The Parties	16
Reasons for the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business	16
Background of the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business	16
Effect of the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business	17
The Asset Purchase Agreement	17
Certain Material Federal and State Income Tax Consequences of the Proposed Sale	22
Accounting Treatment	22
Regulatory Approvals	22
No Changes in the Rights of Stockholders	23
No Appraisal Rights	23
Required Vote	23
Recommendation of our Board of Directors Regarding the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business	24
Proposal No. 2: Approval of to amend our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of	25
authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000	25
Proposal No. 3: Adjournment	26
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information	27
Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2011 (Unaudited)	28
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations Six Months Ended March 31, 2011 (Unaudited)	29
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations Six Months Ended March 31, 2010 (Unaudited)	29
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010 (Unaudited)	30
Unaudited Financial Statements – Molded Rubber Products Business	31
Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2011 (Unaudited) and September 30, 2010	32
Statements of Operations for the Six Months Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 (Unaudited) and the Fiscal Years	33
ended September 30, 2010 and 2009	33
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	38
Other Matters	39
Stockholder Proposals	39
Where you Can Find More Information	39
Request to Sign, Date and Return Proxies	39
Appendix A – Asset Purchase Agreement	A-1
Appendix B – Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011	B-1
Appendix C – Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2011	C-1
Appendix D – Text of Proposed Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation	C-1

This proxy statement and the form of proxy were first mailed to stockholders on or about June ___, 2011.

GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

7 Kimball Lane, Building A

Lynnfield, Massachusetts

(781) 224-2411

PROXY STATEMENT

Special Meeting of Stockholders To Be Held July 29, 2011 10:00 A.M.

The enclosed Proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors (the "Board of Directors") of GreenMan Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, for use at our special meeting of stockholders (the "Special Meeting") to be held at the offices of Morse, Barnes-Brown & Pendleton, P.C., Reservoir Place, 1601 Trapelo Road, Suite 205, Waltham, Massachusetts, 02451. It is anticipated that this Proxy Statement will be mailed to our stockholders on or about June ___, 2011. References to the "Company," "us," "we," or "our," refer to GreenMan Technologies, Inc.

The Special Meeting is for the purpose of considering and voting upon:

The approval of the sale of substantially all of the assets of our wholly-owned subsidiary Green Tech Products, Inc.

- 1. that relate to our molded rubber products business (the "Molded Rubber Products Business") pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 13, 2011 between Green Tech Products, Inc. and Irish Knight Holdings, L.L.C.;
- 2. The approval of an amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000;
 - The approval of one or more adjournments of the Special Meeting, if deemed necessary to facilitate the approval of
- 3. either of the foregoing proposals, including to permit the solicitation of additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the Special Meeting to establish a quorum or to approve such proposals; and
- 4. The transaction of any other business that may properly come before the Special Meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

The Board of Directors is not aware of any other business to come before the Special Meeting, and unanimously recommends that you vote "FOR" these proposals.

SUMMARY

The following summary, together with the question and answer section, provides an overview of the proposals discussed in this Proxy Statement and the attached appendices. This summary also contains cross-references to the more detailed discussions elsewhere in this Proxy Statement. This summary may not contain all of the information that is important to you. To understand fully the proposed sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business and for a more complete description of the terms thereto, you should carefully read this entire Proxy Statement, including the information incorporated by reference, and the attached appendices in their entirety.

Proposal No. 1: Sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business:

General (see page 16)

Our Green Tech Products, Inc. subsidiary has entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Asset Purchase Agreement") with Irish Knight Holdings, L.L.C. ("IKH"), pursuant to which Green Tech Products will sell to IKH substantially all the assets which constitute our molded recycled rubber products business (the "Molded Rubber Products Business"). For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, our Molded Rubber Products Business had revenue of \$2.2 million or 87% of our total consolidated revenue and operating losses of \$.86 million or 15% of our total consolidated net losses. At September 30, 2010, our Molded Rubber Products Business had total assets of \$2.54 million or 37% of our total consolidated assets. For the six months ended March 31, 2011, our Molded Rubber Products Business had revenue of \$0.83 million or 49% of our total consolidated revenue and operating losses of \$1.06 million of 28% of our total net consolidated net losses. At March 31, 2011, our Molded Rubber Products Business had total assets of \$1.25 million or 24% of our total consolidated assets.

The Parties (see page 16)

GreenMan Technologies, Inc.

We were originally founded in 1992 and have operated as a Delaware corporation since 1995. Our business is comprised of two business segments, our dual fuel conversion operations (American Power Group) and our molded recycled rubber products operations (Green Tech Products). On June 17, 2009, we signed an exclusive license agreement with American Power Group, Inc. under which we acquired the exclusive worldwide right to commercialize their patented dual fuel alternative energy technology and July 27, 2009, we purchased substantially all of their remaining operating assets, including their name but excluding the dual fuel patent. If the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is completed, our sole business will be to operate American Power Group's dual fuel conversion operations.

Green Tech Products, Inc.

Green Tech Products, Inc. (formerly known as Welch Products, Inc.) is an Iowa corporation wholly owned by GreenMan since October 2007. Green Tech Products' molded recycled rubber products operations specialize in the design, development and manufacturing of branded recycled products and services that provide schools and municipalities with environmentally responsible products to create safer work and play environments.

Irish Knight Holdings, L.L.C.

Irish Knight Holdings, L.L.C. is an Iowa limited liability company co-owned by two senior managers of Green Tech Products. IKH's principal executive offices are located at 1701 Fernwood Lane, Algonquin, Illinois 60102, and its phone number is 847-917-3958.

Reasons for the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business (see page 16)

Green Tech Products has incurred operating losses aggregating approximately \$5.9 million since we acquired the company on October 1, 2007. In addition, Green Tech Products has experienced declining revenues during the past two fiscal years despite ongoing investments in sales and marketing initiatives intended to promote their patented products and establish market presence. The sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business will permit us to focus all of our corporate resources on advancing our dual fuel conversion business, which we believe has much greater potential for scalability given the millions of diesel engines operated globally today. We believe the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business and the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement are in the best interests of our stockholders.

Our Board of Directors also considered various risks when evaluating the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, which include:

- The viability of our remaining business after the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business and our ability to identify and develop new business opportunities;
- The fact that, if the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is completed, we will remain responsible for certain pending litigation involving that business; and
- · The possibility that the proposed sale might not be completed and the effect on our business and financial position. **Effect of the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business (see page 17)**

If our stockholders approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, we will seek to complete the sale. The sale will relieve us of material liabilities and other obligations, and will allow us to focus both management's attention and our corporate resources to grow our dual fuel conversion business model domestically as well as world-wide and to pursue additional business opportunities that are intended to increase shareholder value.

The Asset Purchase Agreement (see page 17)

Purchase Price

As consideration for the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business, the purchase price will be (i) the assumption of substantially all Green Tech Products' liabilities (which were approximately \$1,100,000 at March 31, 2011, including all of Green Tech Products' loans from Great Western Bank, in an amount not to exceed \$221,427 (inclusive of all principal, accrued but unpaid interest and other charges, fees and obligations), which will be repaid to such bank directly by IKH), but excluding potential liabilities associated with certain pending litigation; (ii) a \$50,000 stock inventory credit toward the purchase of products and services from IKH, which credit may be applied during the first nine months after completion of the sale; and (iii) a promissory note in the principal amount of \$100,000, which note would bear interest at the rate of 6% per annum and would be payable in increasing monthly installments over a period of 60 months.

The Asset Purchase Agreement is attached to this Proxy Statement as *Appendix A*. We encourage you to read the Asset Purchase Agreement carefully. Our Board of Directors has unanimously approved the Asset Purchase Agreement, which is the binding legal agreement that governs the terms of the sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business.

Some of the key provisions of the Asset Purchase Agreement are as follows:

Representations and Warranties

The Asset Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties of the parties relating to, among other things, their authority to enter into the Asset Purchase Agreement and the condition of the Molded Rubber Products Business. For a more detailed description of the representations and warranties of each of the parties, please see page 19.

Covenants

The Asset Purchase Agreement contains customary covenants of the parties, including agreements by Green Tech Products to conduct the Molded Rubber Products Business in accordance with ordinary past practices and to refrain from certain actions between the time of signing the Asset Purchase Agreement and the closing of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, and our agreement to use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit stockholder proxies approving the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Indemnification

The Asset Purchase Agreement provides that each party will indemnify the other for any losses incurred as a result of, among other things, breaches of representations, warranties and covenants, subject in certain circumstances to specified dollar and time limitations. However, Green Tech Products will not be obligated to indemnify IKH with respect to any representation or warranty in the Asset Purchase Agreement to the extent that Green Tech Products' management team or employees knew or should have known that such representation or warranty is or might be inaccurate.

Conditions to Closing

The obligations of the parties to complete the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business are subject to certain customary closing conditions, including, among other things:

- the accuracy in all material respects of all of the parties' respective representations and warranties in the Asset Purchase Agreement;
- the performance in all material respects by the parties of all of their respective covenants and obligations under the
- · Asset Purchase Agreement to be performed or complied with prior to the completion of the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business;
- · IKH shall have obtained on terms and conditions satisfactory to it funds sufficient to complete the transaction; and
- the stockholders of the Company shall have approved the proposed sale.

Termination

The Asset Purchase Agreement may be terminated by:

- · mutual consent of the parties;
- either party if the other party has failed to satisfy any of the closing conditions required to be satisfied by such party prior to Closing;
- either party if the other party has committed a material breach of any provision of the Asset Purchase Agreement and such breach has not been cured by such party within five business days of receipt of notice of such breach;
- · either party, if our stockholders do not approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business;
- · IKH, if IKH fails to obtain on terms and conditions satisfactory to it funds sufficient to complete the transaction; or by either party on August 31, 2011 if the transactions contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement have not been completed by that date.

Transaction Expenses

The parties to the Asset Purchase Agreement will pay their own expenses.

Certain Material Federal and State Income Tax Consequences (see page 22)

The sale of assets contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement may be a transaction taxable to us for United States federal and state income tax purposes. However, we believe any taxable gain on a federal or state tax basis would be offset against our current year losses from operations plus available net operating loss carry forwards, as currently reflected on our consolidated federal and state income tax returns.

The sale of assets contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement will not be a taxable event for our stockholders under applicable United States federal income tax laws.

Accounting Treatment (see page 22)

We will record the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. Upon completion of the disposition, we will recognize a gain or loss for financial statement purposes equal to the net proceeds (the sum of the purchase price, including all liabilities assumed, less the expenses of the sale) less the book value of the assets sold.

Regulatory Approvals (see page 22)

We are not aware of any federal or state regulatory requirements that must be complied with or approvals that must be obtained to complete the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, other than the filing of this Proxy Statement with the Securities Exchange Commission. If any additional approvals or filings are required, we will use our commercially reasonable efforts to obtain those approvals and make any required filings before completing the transactions contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement.

No Changes in the Rights of Stockholders (see page 23)

There will be no change in the rights of our stockholders as a result of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

No Appraisal Rights (see page 23)

Our stockholders do not have appraisal rights under the Delaware General Corporation Law in connection with the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Required Vote (see page 23)

Our Board of Directors believes that the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business does not constitute a sale of "all or substantially all" of our assets for purposes of Section 271 of the Delaware General Corporate Law, and accordingly, our Board of Directors believes that approval of our stockholders is not required as a matter of Delaware law. The analysis of whether the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business is subject to Section 271 is, however, inherently fact-driven and, if a court of competent jurisdiction were asked to determine whether Section 271 applied, its analysis would depend, among other things, on its views on the relative fair market value of the assets sold as compared to the fair market value of the assets retained following the transaction. To eliminate any uncertainty, Green Tech Products and IKH agreed that the transaction would be conditioned upon an approval of our stockholders. Our Board of Directors has determined to seek the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date, so that such approval that would meet the requirements of Section 271 if Section 271 applied. Our Board of Directors also considered such approval to be a matter of good corporate governance. Because the transaction will be subject to stockholder approval by the stockholder vote that would otherwise be required if we were to sell all or substantially all of our assets, we believe that stockholder approval of the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business would ensure that the transaction has satisfied the requirements of Section 271 if a court of competent jurisdiction ever determined that Section 271 applied to such transaction.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock outstanding as of the record date for the Special Meeting is therefore required to approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business. For this purpose, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business. Properly executed proxies that do not contain voting instructions will be voted "FOR" the approval of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Based in part on the determination of the full Board of Directors, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors has determined that the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business does not represent a sale of all or substantially all of our assets for purposes of our 2005 Stock Option Plan, as amended, any awards issued thereunder, or any severance or similar agreements we have with any of our employees. Accordingly, we will not deem the transaction to be an event that triggers the acceleration of vesting of stock options, restricted stock or restricted stock units, or the payment of severance, alone (a "single-trigger") or in combination with a termination of service (a "double-trigger"). It is possible, however, that one or more employees will disagree with such conclusion and initiate legal action to receive benefits that would be available if the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business were deemed a sale of all or substantially of our assets and other conditions set forth in the applicable plan or agreement were satisfied. Similarly, we do not believe that the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business represents the sale of all or substantially all of our assets for purposes of certain promissory notes that become due and payable upon the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets. It is possible, however, that one or more note holders will disagree with such conclusion and initiate legal action to recover the principal amount of such notes, together with all accrued interest and costs of collection. We cannot assure you that we would prevail in any such actions.

None of our executive officers has any agreement or understanding concerning any type of compensation (whether present, deferred, or contingent) that is based on or otherwise relates to the completion of the sale of the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business and that has not been waived. Accordingly, we are not requesting an advisory vote of our stockholders with respect to any such compensation.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors Regarding the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business (see page 24)

For the reasons described above, our Board of Directors has determined that the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is in the best interests of the Company and our stockholders. Accordingly, our Board of Directors has unanimously approved the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business and Asset Purchase Agreement and unanimously recommends to our stockholders that they vote "FOR" approval of Proposal No. 1: Approval of the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Proposal No. 2 Amend our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000

Purpose (see page 25)

As of May 31, 2011, there were 36,034,908 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding, and we had reserved approximately 9,871,088 additional shares for future issuance. These reserved shares include: 5,898,500 shares for issuance upon exercise of awards granted under our 1993 Stock Option Plan, 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, 2005 Stock Option Plan, 874,746 shares for issuance upon exercise of other stock options and stock purchase warrants and 3,097,842 shares for issuance upon the conversion of certain convertible promissory notes.

The Board of Directors believes that the authorized common stock should be increased to provide sufficient shares for such corporate purposes as may be determined by the Board of Directors. If this proposal is approved, the Board of Directors will have the authority to issue approximately 54,090,000 additional shares of common stock as of May 31, 2011, not including shares already reserved for issuance, as described above, without further stockholder approval.

Required Stockholder Vote to Approve the Increase in our Authorized Capital Stock (see page 26)

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date is required in order to approve the proposal to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000 shares. For this purpose, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" the increase. Properly executed proxies that do not contain voting instructions will be voted "FOR" the approval of the proposal to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors (see page 26)

Our Board of Directors believes that the increase in the number of authorized shares of common stock is in the best interests of our Company and our stockholders. Accordingly, our Board of Directors unanimously recommends to our stockholders that they vote "FOR" approval of Proposal No. 2: Approval of the amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000.

Proposal No. 3: Adjournment of the Special Meeting

Purpose (see page 26)

In the event there are not sufficient votes present, in person or by proxy, at the Special Meeting to approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business or the increase in the number of authorized shares of common stock, our chief executive officer, acting in his capacity as chairperson of the meeting, may propose an adjournment of the Special Meeting to a later date or dates to permit further solicitation of proxies.

Required Stockholder Vote to Approve the Adjournment Proposal (see page 26)

Approval of Proposal No. 3 will require that the number of votes cast in favor of the proposal exceed the number of votes cast against it. Assuming the presence of a quorum, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have no effect on Proposal No. 3: Adjournment.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors (see page 26)

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that our stockholders vote "FOR" approval of Proposal No. 3 to adjourn the Special Meeting, if necessary to obtain the requisite number of proxies to approve Proposal No. 1 and/or Proposal No. 2.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE SPECIAL MEETING AND RELATED PROPOSALS

Why am	I receiving	this Proxy	Statement and	proxy card?
--------	-------------	------------	---------------	-------------

You are receiving this Proxy Statement and proxy card because you own shares of our common stock. This Proxy Statement describes the proposals on which we would like you, as a stockholder, to vote at the Special Meeting. It also gives you information on the proposals so that you can make an informed decision.

Who can vote at the Special Meeting?

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on May 31, 2011 will be entitled to vote at the Special Meeting.

What is being voted on?

You are being asked to vote on the following matters:

- 1. To approve the sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business;
- 2. To approve an amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000; and To approve one or more adjournments of the Special Meeting, if deemed necessary to facilitate the approval of
- 3. either of the foregoing proposals, including to permit the solicitation of additional proxies if there are not sufficient

votes at the time of the Special Meeting to establish a quorum or to approve such proposals.

What will happen if the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is approved?

If the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is approved, we will complete the sale subject to the satisfaction of the closing conditions set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement. We anticipate that the transaction will close as promptly as practicable after the Special Meeting.

What will happen if the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is not approved?

If we are unable to successfully complete the sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business we intend to close the Molded Rubber Products Business, liquidate Green Tech Products' assets and use the net proceeds to satisfy as much of Green Tech Products' obligations as possible.

What will happen if the proposed amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000 is not approved?

If the proposed amendment to increase the number of authorized shares is not approved, the Board believes that we may not have sufficient shares to issue in conjunction with potential business development opportunities or capital raising efforts.

Does the Board of Directors recommend that I vote on the proposals to be considered and voted upon at the Special Meeting?

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote your shares:

- · "FOR" the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business to IKH;
- "FOR" the proposed amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000;
- "FOR" the adjournment of the Special Meeting, if necessary to obtain the requisite number of proxies to approve either of the foregoing proposals.

How do I vote?

If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, then, after carefully reading and considering the information contained or referred to in this Proxy Statement, including the Appendices, you may either (i) complete, sign and date your proxy card and voting instructions and return them in the enclosed postage-paid envelope or (ii) vote in person at the Special Meeting. Please vote your shares as soon as possible so that your shares will be represented at the Special Meeting.

If my shares are held in "street name" by my broker or other nominee, will my nominee vote my shares for me?

If your shares are held of record by a broker or other nominee, the nominee will vote your shares only if you provide instructions on how to vote. Please consult your broker or nominee for voting instructions and tell that person how you would like him or her to vote your shares. If you do not tell your broker or other nominee how to vote, your shares will not be voted. If your shares are held of record by a broker or other nominee and you wish to vote at the special meeting, you must obtain from the record holder a proxy issued in your name or bring an account statement or letter from the nominee indicating your beneficial ownership as of the record date.

Can I change my vote after I have delivered my proxy?

Yes. You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the meeting by (i) delivering a written notice of revocation to Charles E. Coppa, our Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary, at GreenMan Technologies, Inc. 7 Kimball Lane, Building A, Lynnfield, Massachusetts 01940; (ii) delivering a later-dated proxy; or (iii) attending the Special Meeting and voting in person. Attendance at the Special Meeting, in and of itself, will not constitute a revocation of a proxy. If your shares are held in an account at a brokerage firm or a bank, you should contact your brokerage firm or bank for instructions on how to change your vote.

How many votes are required to approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business?

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date is required in order to approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business. For this purpose, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have the same effect as a vote against the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

How many votes are required to approve the amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000?

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date is required in order to approve the amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation. For this purpose, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have the same effect as a vote against the increase.

Am I entitled to appraisal rights?

No, our stockholders do not have appraisal rights under the Delaware General Corporation Law in connection with the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business or the increase in the number of authorized shares of our capital stock.

When do you expect the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business to be completed?

It is currently anticipated that the transactions and actions contemplated in the Asset Purchase Agreement will be completed as promptly as practicable following our Special Meeting to be held on July 29, 2011.

Who is paying for this proxy solicitation?

We will pay for the entire cost of soliciting proxies. In addition to these mailed proxy materials, our directors and employees may also solicit proxies in person, by telephone or by other means of communication. Directors and employees will not be paid any additional compensation for soliciting proxies. We may reimburse brokerage firms, banks and other agents for the cost of forwarding proxy materials to beneficial owners. We may also engage a professional proxy solicitation firm to assist in the proxy solicitation and, if so, will pay such solicitation firm customary fees plus expenses.

Who should I call if I have any questions about the Special Meeting?

If you have any questions about the Special Meeting, you should contact Charles E. Coppa, our Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary, at (781) 224-2411.

THE SPECIAL MEETING

Time, Date and Place; Matters to be Considered

The Special Meeting will be held on July 29, 2011, at 10:00 a.m. local time, at the offices of Morse, Barnes-Brown & Pendleton, P.C., Reservoir Place, 1601 Trapelo Road, Suite 205, Waltham, Massachusetts, 02451. At the Special Meeting, stockholders will be asked to consider and vote upon each of the proposals and conduct such other business as may properly come before the Special Meeting and any adjournment thereof.

Voting and Record Date

The Board of Directors has fixed May 31, 2011, as the record date (the "Record Date") for determining holders of shares of our common stock that are entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the Special Meeting. Each holder of record of shares of our voting stock on the Record Date is entitled to cast one vote per share, in person or by a properly executed proxy, with respect to the approval of the proposals and any other matter to be submitted to a vote of our stockholders at the Special Meeting. At May 31, 2011, there were 36,034,908 shares of common stock outstanding.

Approval of Proposal No. 1 and Proposal No. 2 will each require the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date. Therefore, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have the same effect as votes against Proposal No. 1 and Proposal No. 2. Approval of Proposal No. 3 requires that the number of votes cast in favor of the proposal exceed the number of votes cast against it. Assuming the presence of a quorum, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have no effect on Proposal No 3.

The Board of Directors has unanimously approved each of the proposals and recommends that stockholders vote "FOR" the approval of each of the proposals. We are seeking requisite stockholder approval of each of the proposals.

A complete list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Special Meeting will be available at least 10 days before the Special Meeting for examination by any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the Special Meeting, during ordinary business hours at the principal executive offices of the Company. The list will also be available at the Special Meeting.

Ouorum

The required quorum for the transaction of business at the Special Meeting is a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding on the Record Date and entitled to vote at such meeting. Broker non-votes and shares that are voted "FOR" or "AGAINST" a proposal or marked "ABSTAIN" are treated as being present at the Special Meeting for purposes of establishing a quorum.

Abstentions and Broker Non-Votes

Broker "non-votes" and the shares of voting stock as to which a stockholder abstains are included for purposes of determining whether a quorum of shares of voting stock is present at a meeting. A broker "non-vote" occurs when a nominee holding shares of voting stock for the beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that item and has not received instructions from the beneficial owner. Proposals 1, 2 and 3 are non-discretionary items, which means that a nominee may not vote on either proposal without instructions from the beneficial owner. Since each of Proposals 1 and 2 requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of our issued and outstanding voting stock entitled to vote at the Special Meeting, abstentions and broker "non-votes" have the effect of votes "AGAINST" Proposals 1 and 2. Since Proposal 3 requires that the number of votes cast in favor of the proposal exceed the number of votes cast against it, assuming the presence of a quorum, abstentions and broker "non-votes" will have no effect on Proposal 3.

Brokerage Accounts

If any of your shares are held in the name of a brokerage firm, bank, bank nominee or other institution, only it can vote such shares and only upon receipt of your specific instructions. Accordingly, please contact the person responsible for your account and instruct that person to execute the proxy card representing your shares. In addition, if you hold your shares in a brokerage or bank account, your broker or bank may allow you to provide your voting instructions by telephone or Internet. Please consult the materials you receive from your broker or bank prior to authorizing a proxy by telephone or Internet.

Proxies

Our Board of Directors is asking for your proxy. Giving your proxy means you authorize the named proxies to vote your shares at the Special Meeting in the manner you direct. You may vote for or against the proposals or abstain from voting. All shares of common stock that are represented at the Special Meeting by properly executed proxies received by us prior to or at the Special Meeting, and not duly and timely revoked, will be voted at the Special Meeting in accordance with the choices marked thereon by the stockholders. If no choice is marked, the shares represented by each proxy will be voted FOR approval of each of the proposals. At the time that this Proxy Statement was mailed to stockholders, we were not aware that any other matters not referred to herein would be presented for action at the Special Meeting. If any other matters properly come before the Special Meeting, the persons designated in the proxy intend to vote the shares represented thereby in accordance with their best judgment.

Any proxy given pursuant to this solicitation may be revoked by the person giving it at any time before it is voted. Proxies may be revoked by (i) filing with our Corporate Secretary at or before the taking of the vote at the Special Meeting, a written notice of revocation bearing a later date than the proxy; (ii) duly executing a later-dated proxy relating to the same shares and delivering it to our Corporate Secretary before the taking of the vote at the Special Meeting; or (iii) attending the Special Meeting and voting in person (although attendance at the Special Meeting will not in and of itself constitute a revocation of a proxy).

Attendance at the Special Meeting

Only holders of common stock may attend the Special Meeting. If you wish to attend the Special Meeting in person but you hold your shares through someone else, such as a stockbroker, you must bring proof of your ownership and photo identification at the Special Meeting. For example, you could bring an account statement showing that you beneficially owned shares of our common stock as of the record date as acceptable proof of ownership.

Costs of Solicitation

We will pay for the entire cost of soliciting proxies. In addition to these mailed proxy materials, our directors and employees may also solicit proxies in person, by telephone or by other means of communication. Directors and employees will not be paid any additional compensation for soliciting proxies. We may reimburse brokerage firms, banks and other agents for the cost of forwarding proxy materials to beneficial owners. We may also engage a professional proxy solicitation firm to assist in the proxy solicitation and, if so, will pay such solicitation firm customary fees plus expenses.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this Proxy Statement that are "forward-looking statements" are based on our beliefs as well as assumptions made by us using information currently available. The words "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "intend "will," "should" and similar expressions, as they relate to us, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such statements reflect our current views with respect to future events, are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, and are not guaranties of future performance. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described herein as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected, intended or using other similar expressions. These forward looking statements are based on our current estimates and assumptions and, as such, involve uncertainty and risk. Actual results could differ materially from projected results because of factors such as:

If our stockholders fail to approve the proposed sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business, or if we are unable to satisfy the other conditions to closing the proposed transaction, certain of which are not within our control, our liquidity, financial position and business may be harmed.

- · Even if we complete the proposed transaction, we may be unable to successfully operate our remaining business.

 Even if we complete the proposed transaction, we will remain responsible for certain pending litigation involving the Molded Rubber Products Business.
- If the proposed amendment to increase the number of authorized shares is not approved, we may not have sufficient shares to issue in conjunction with potential business development opportunities or capital raising efforts. There are representations and warranties contained in the Asset Purchase Agreement that is attached as an appendix and described herein which were made by the parties to each other as of specific dates. The assertions embodied in these representations and warranties were made solely for purposes of the Asset Purchase Agreement and may be subject to important qualifications and limitations agreed to by the parties in connection with negotiating its terms. Moreover, certain representations and warranties may not be accurate or complete as of any specified date because they are subject to a contractual standard of materiality that is different from certain standards generally applicable to stockholders or were used for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties rather than establishing matters as facts. Therefore, you should not rely on the representations and warranties contained in the Asset Purchase Agreement as statements of factual information.

We do not assume any obligation to update information contained in this document, except as required by federal securities laws. Although this Proxy Statement may remain available on our website or elsewhere, its continued availability does not indicate that we are reaffirming or confirming any of the information contained herein. Neither our website nor its contents are a part of this Proxy Statement.

RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the special risk considerations described below as well as other information provided to you or referenced in this Proxy Statement in deciding how to vote on the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business and the proposed amendment to our Restated Articles of Incorporation to increase our authorized shares. The special risk considerations described below are not the only ones we face. For a discussion of additional risk considerations, we refer to you the documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, particularly our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 and our Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2011, which are attached as *Appendix B* and *Appendix C* hereto. Additional considerations not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the following special risk considerations actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected, the value of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Special Risk Considerations Regarding the Proposed Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business

If we fail to complete the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, our business may be harmed.

We cannot assure you that the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business will be completed. As a result of our announcement of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, third parties may be unwilling to enter into material agreements with respect to our Molded Rubber Products Business. New or existing customers may prefer to enter into agreements with our competitors who have not expressed an intention to sell their business because customers may perceive that such relationships are likely to be more stable. If we fail to complete the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, we intend to close the Molded Rubber Products Business, liquidate Green Tech Products' assets and use the net proceeds to satisfy as much of Green Tech Products' obligations as possible.

You will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

The purchase price for the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business will be paid directly to us or our creditors. Therefore, no proceeds will be received by our stockholders as a result of the sale.

The Asset Purchase Agreement may expose us to contingent liabilities.

Under the Asset Purchase Agreement, our Green Tech Products subsidiary is required to indemnify IKH for the breach or violation of any representation, warranty or covenant made by Green Tech Products in the Asset Purchase Agreement, subject to certain limitations and up to a maximum of the total purchase price. In addition, subject to certain procedural requirements, IKH will have the right to offset the amount of any indemnification claims it may have against any amounts due and payable under the \$100,000 promissory note IKH will deliver to us at the closing. Significant indemnification claims by IKH could have a material adverse effect on our ability to collect the amounts due to us under that promissory note.

Even if our stockholders approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, we cannot be sure when, or even if, the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business will be completed.

The completion of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is subject to the satisfaction of a number of conditions, including, among others, the requirement that we obtain stockholder approval of the sale and the requirement that IKH obtain funds sufficient to complete the transaction on terms and conditions satisfactory to it. In addition, IKH may terminate the agreement if we do not cure breaches, if any, of a material provision of the Asset Purchase Agreement within five business days of notice of such breach. We cannot guarantee that Green Tech Products and IKH will be able to meet the closing conditions of the Asset Purchase Agreement. If Green Tech Products is unable to meet the closing conditions, IKH is not obligated to purchase the Molded Rubber Products Business. We also cannot be sure that other circumstances, for example, a material adverse event, will not arise that would allow IKH to terminate the Asset Purchase Agreement prior to closing. If the asset sale is not approved or does not close, our Board of Directors will be forced to evaluate other alternatives, which are expected to be less favorable to us than the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Even if we complete the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, we will remain responsible for certain pending litigation involving that business.

We received notice on January 26, 2011 that the Orland Unified School District, Orland, California had filed a complaint in the Glen County Superior Court in the State of California against Green Tech Products and its subsidiaries, GreenMan Technologies and several other unrelated parties, including one of the two senior managers of Green Tech Products who is a co-owner of IKH, seeking general monetary damages, exemplary damages, other statutory damages, attorneys' fees and costs and other equitable remedies relating to their dissatisfaction with the installation of several playground equipment and tile projects during 2008. Under the Asset Purchase Agreement, IKH is not assuming any of the liabilities potentially associated with this litigation, and all of such of liabilities, if any, will remain our responsibility. We have also agreed to defend and to indemnify the senior manager against any expenses he may incur in connection with this litigation. We believe the case is without merit and that we have substantial defenses against the plaintiff's claims, and we intend to contest the matter vigorously. If, however, the plaintiff is ultimately successful in winning damages in excess of any insurance coverage that may be available to us, it could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. As of the date of this proxy statement, Green Tech Products is not party to any other litigation.

PROPOSAL NO. 1

APPROVAL OF THE SALE OF THE MOLDED RUBBER PRODUCTS BUSINESS

General

Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, we will sell to IKH our Molded Rubber Products Business, which includes all of the assets of our Green Tech Products, Inc. subsidiary. Upon consummation of the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, ownership of Green Tech Products' assets will be transferred to IKH. The sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business will constitute the sale of substantially all of our Molded Rubber Products Business assets.

The Parties

GreenMan Technologies, Inc.

We were originally founded in 1992 and have operated as a Delaware corporation since 1995. Our business is comprised of two business segments, our dual fuel conversion operations (American Power Group) and our molded recycled rubber products operations (Green Tech Products). On June 17, 2009, we signed an exclusive license agreement with American Power Group, Inc. under which we acquired the exclusive worldwide right to commercialize their patented dual fuel alternative energy technology and July 27, 2009, we purchased substantially all of their remaining operating assets, including their name but excluding the dual fuel patent. If the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is completed, our sole business will be to operate American Power Group's dual fuel conversion operations.

Green Tech Products, Inc.

Green Tech Products, Inc. (formerly known as Welch Products, Inc.) is an Iowa corporation wholly owned by GreenMan since October 2007. Green Tech Products' molded recycled rubber products operations specialize in the design, development and manufacturing of branded recycled products and services that provide schools and municipalities with environmentally responsible products to create safer work and play environments.

Irish Knight Holdings, L.L.C.

Irish Knight Holdings, L.L.C. is an Iowa limited liability company co-owned by two senior managers of Green Tech Products. IKH's principal executive offices are located at 1701 Fernwood Lane, Algonquin, Illinois 60102, and its phone number is 847-917-3958.

Reasons for the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business

As of March 31, 2011, we had \$751,983 in cash, cash equivalents and restricted certificates of deposit and a working capital deficiency of \$1,855,118. We have incurred substantial losses from operations over the past ten fiscal quarters since divesting our tire recycling business in November 2008. Green Tech Products has incurred operating losses aggregating approximately \$5.9 million since we acquired the company on October 1, 2007. In addition, Green Tech Products has experienced declining revenues during the past two fiscal years despite ongoing investments in sales and marketing initiatives intended to promote Green Tech Products' patented products and establish market presence. The sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business will permit us to focus all of our corporate resources on advancing our dual fuel conversion business, which we believe has much greater potential for scalability given the millions of diesel engines operated globally today. We believe the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business and the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement are in the best interests of our stockholders.

Background of the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business

In response to continuing significant operating losses and declining revenues our Board of Directors determined it to be in the best interests of shareholder value to exit the Molded Rubber Products Business and to devote all of our corporate resources to advancing American Power Group's dual fuel conversion business. Accordingly, on March 8, 2011, our Board adopted a plan to commence an immediate effort to identify potential buyers for Green Tech Products' business and/or evaluate other strategic alternatives.

During the past several months we have met with numerous parties who had expressed an interest in our Molded Rubber Products Business, but who were unwilling to submit an offer to purchase the business. Given these facts and as an alternative to closing down and liquidating the assets of Green Tech Products, we approached two members of Green Tech Products' senior management team to discuss their interest in acquiring the Molded Rubber Products Business. After several discussions with these individuals, we received a non-binding proposal from IKH, a company formed by the two individuals, to purchase the Molded Rubber Products Business. Based on the consideration offered by IKH, including the assumption of significant liabilities from Green Tech Products, and the unwillingness of other prospective purchasers to submit offers, our Board of Directors believed IKH would be a suitable buyer for our Molded Rubber Products Business. Our Board of Directors also believed, due to IKH's management's extensive knowledge of the molded rubber products industry, that there was a high probability that IKH would be able to finance and complete the acquisition.

On April 4, 2011 our Board of Directors met to discuss the status of the potential transaction with IKH and approved the execution of a non-binding letter of intent for the purchase of the Molded Rubber Products Business by IKH.

During April 2011 we provided a draft agreement to IKH that covered the basic terms of the proposed transaction. Throughout the following weeks, we negotiated the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement with IKH and on June 9, 2011 we finalized the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement.

On June 10, 2011, our Board of Directors convened a meeting to review the final Asset Purchase Agreement and the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business. During the meeting, management informed the Board that, based on management's estimates, the value to be realized from liquidating the Molded Rubber Products Business assets would be insufficient to satisfy all remaining obligations of the business and that IKH was willing to assume or satisfy all of such obligations, other than potential liabilities associated with certain pending litigation. Based on this information and after additional discussions, the Board of Directors determined that entering into the Asset Purchase Agreement and completing the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business to IKH were in the best interests of the Company and our stockholders. Our Board of Directors and Green Tech Products' board of directors then approved (i) the Asset Purchase Agreement, (ii) the related transaction agreements, and (iii) the proposed sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business to IKH on the terms set forth in those agreements, and authorized management to execute the Asset Purchase Agreement and the other transaction agreements on our behalf.

On June 13, 2011, Green Tech Products executed the Asset Purchase Agreement with IKH and we publicly announced the agreement on June 14, 2011.

Effect of the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business

If our stockholders approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, we will seek to complete the sale. The cash proceeds of the proposed sale will not be substantial. However, the sale will relieve us of material liabilities and other obligations, and will allow us to focus both management's attention and our corporate resources to grow our dual fuel conversion business model domestically as well as world-wide and to pursue additional business opportunities that are intended to increase shareholder value.

The Asset Purchase Agreement

The following is a description of the material terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement. The following description does not purport to describe all of the terms and conditions of the Asset Purchase Agreement. The full text of the Asset Purchase Agreement is attached to this proxy statement as *Appendix A* and is incorporated by reference. You are urged to read the Asset Purchase Agreement in its entirety because it is the legal document that governs the terms and conditions of the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Structure

Our Molded Rubber Products Business is operated by our wholly owned subsidiary, Green Tech Products, Inc. The transaction is structured as the sale of substantially all of the assets of Green Tech Products, Inc. to IKH. The assets of our Molded Rubber Products Business will be sold free of liens and encumbrances other than certain assumed liabilities.

Effective Time

The closing of the transaction is anticipated to occur as promptly as practicable after we obtain stockholder approval and satisfy all other conditions to Closing.

Purchase Price

As consideration for the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business, the purchase price will be (i) the assumption of substantially all Green Tech Products' liabilities (which were approximately \$1,100,000 at March 31, 2011, including all of Green Tech Products' loans from Great Western Bank, in an amount not to exceed \$221,427 (inclusive of all principal, accrued but unpaid interest and other charges, fees and obligations), which will be repaid to such bank directly by IKH), but excluding potential liabilities associated with certain pending litigation; (ii) a \$50,000 stock inventory credit toward the purchase of products and services from IKH, which credit may be applied during the first nine months after completion of the sale; and (iii) a promissory note in the principal amount of \$100,000, which note would bear interest at the rate of 6% per annum and would be payable in increasing monthly installments over a period of 60 months.

The Asset Purchase Agreement is attached to this Proxy Statement as *Appendix A*. We encourage you to read the Asset Purchase Agreement carefully. Our Board of Directors has unanimously approved the Asset Purchase Agreement, which is the binding legal agreement that governs the terms of the sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business.

Excluded Assets and Retained Liabilities

Certain assets and liabilities related to the Molded Rubber Products Business are excluded from the sale and include:

- · Amounts owed to Green Tech Products by any related party;
- Liabilities for claims for breaches of representations or warranties or product liability with respect to any product shipped or manufactured, or any services provided, prior to the Closing;

- · Liabilities of Green Tech Products to any related party;
- · Liabilities related to the transaction;
- · Liabilities for any taxes arising as a result of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business; Liabilities attributable to assets retained by us, those incurred by us outside the ordinary course of business or
- · inconsistent with past practice and those not clearly identified in contracts and governmental authorizations to be transferred to IKH;
- · Indebtedness of Green Tech Products, except for indebtedness specifically assumed by IKH; Potential liabilities associated with certain litigation pending as of the closing (see "Risk Factors – Even if we complete
- · the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, we will remain responsible for certain pending litigation involving that business," on page 15); and
- · Environmental liabilities related to the period prior to the closing.

Conduct of Molded Rubber Products Business Prior to the Closing

Green Tech Products has agreed to customary covenants that require Green Tech Products, among other things, from the date of the Asset Purchase Agreement through the closing of the Transaction:

- to provide IKH with access during normal business hours to Green Tech Products' properties, books, records and
- · information concerning Green Tech Products' financial and legal condition as IKH deems reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with the consummation of the Transaction;
- · to conduct the Molded Rubber Products Business in the ordinary and usual course of business;
- · to use best efforts to preserve substantially intact Green Tech Products' assets; to use best efforts to keep available the services of Green Tech Products' employees, officer and directors and
- · maintain Green Tech Products' present relationships with customers, suppliers and others having significant business relationships with it;
- confer with IKH to keep IKH informed with respect to the general status of the on-going operations of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Representations and Warranties

The Asset Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties made by Green Tech Products to IKH and by IKH to Green Tech Products for purposes of allocating the risks associated with the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business. The assertions embodied in the representations and warranties made by Green Tech Products are qualified by information set forth in a confidential disclosure schedule that was delivered in connection with the execution of the Asset Purchase Agreement. While we do not believe that the disclosure schedule contains information that securities laws require us to publicly disclose, other than information that is being disclosed in this Proxy Statement, the disclosure schedule may contain information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations and warranties set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement. Accordingly, you should not rely on any of these representations and warranties as characterizations of the actual state of facts, since they may be modified in important respects by the underlying disclosure schedule. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may have changed since the date of the Asset Purchase Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in the disclosure schedule we delivered to IKH at signing and which may not be delivered by us until the consummation of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

The representations and warranties made by the parties must be accurate as of the date of the Asset Purchase Agreement and as of the time of the closing, except for those representations and warranties that relate to a specific date, which must be accurate as of such date.

Closing Conditions

IKH's Conditions. IKH's obligation to complete the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is subject to certain conditions, including among other things:

- the accuracy in all material respects of all of Green Tech Products' representations and warranties in the Asset Purchase Agreement;
- the performance in all material respects of all of Green Tech Products' covenants and obligations under the Asset
- · Purchase Agreement to be performed or complied with by Green Tech Products prior to the completion of the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business;
- no legal action or proceeding shall be pending which is reasonably likely to (i) to restrain, prohibit or invalidate the
- · consummation of the sale or (ii) to have an effect which is materially adverse to the results of the Molded Rubber Products Business or Green Tech Products' financial or other condition;
- IKH shall have received the valid assignment of a real estate purchase contract among William O. Welch and Cheryl J. Welch, on the one hand, and Green Tech Products, on the other;

the holders of a majority of the votes represented by the outstanding shares of our common stock shall have affirmatively approved the sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business;

IKH shall have received all governmental authorizations necessary to own and operate the purchased assets and the Molded Rubber Products Business;

- · IKH shall have received copies of the payoff letters in form and substance reasonably acceptable to IKH, stating that all encumbrances held by such creditors shall be released upon payment at the closing of the transaction;
- · IKH shall have obtained on terms and conditions satisfactory to it funds sufficient to complete the transaction;
- · IKH shall have received all other reasonable and customary consents and approvals as required.

Our Conditions. Our obligation to complete the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business is subject to certain conditions, including, among other things:

- the accuracy in all material respects of all of IKH's representations and warranties contained in the Asset Purchase Agreement;
- the performance in all material respects of all of IKH's covenants and obligations under the Asset Purchase
- · Agreement to be performed or complied with by IKH prior to the completion of the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business;
- no legal action or proceeding shall be pending which is reasonably likely to (i) to restrain, prohibit or invalidate the consummation of the sale or (ii) to have an effect which is materially adverse to the results of the Molded Rubber Products Business or IKH's financial or other condition;
- IKH shall have accepted the assignment of the real estate purchase contract and the parties thereto shall have released Green Tech Products from all further obligations thereunder;
- the holders of a majority of the votes represented by the outstanding shares of our common stock shall have affirmatively approved the sale of our Molded Rubber Products Business;
 - IKH shall have assumed Green Tech's obligations under the real estate purchase contract among William O. Welch and Cheryl J. Welch, on the one hand, and Green Tech Products, on the other;
- IKH shall have assumed or paid all of the liabilities of Green Tech Products, including without limitation Green Tech Products' obligations to Great Western Bank, as provided in the Asset Purchase Agreement;
- All of the stock options granted by us to the two members of Green Tech Products' management team prior to the
- · sale shall have become immediately vested and exercisable as of the completion of the sale and shall remain exercisable for a period of five years after the closing; and
- · Green Tech Products shall have received all other reasonable and customary consents and approvals as required.

Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation

Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, we have agreed that, for a period of three years after the completion of the sale, neither we nor any of our affiliates will, directly or indirectly, own, manage, operate, join, control or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control of, or be employed or otherwise connected as an agent, security holder, consultant, stockholder, subsidiary, partner or otherwise with, any person, firm, corporation or business that engages in any activity that is the same as, similar to, or competitive with Molded Rubber Products Business anywhere within the United States of America.

In addition, for a period of three years from the completion of the sale, we have agreed that neither we nor any of our affiliates will, directly or indirectly, induce or attempt to induce any employee of IKH to leave their employ, or otherwise solicit the employment of any such employee of IKH, hire any such employee or in any way interfere with the relationship between IKH and any of such employees, induce or attempt to induce any customer of IKH to cease

doing business with IKH or in any way interfere with the relationship between IKH and any of its customers or business relations, or solicit the business of any then existing customer of IKH.

Termination

The Asset Purchase Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the date of the Closing by:

- · mutual consent of the parties;
- either party if the other party has failed to satisfy any of the closing conditions required to be satisfied by such party prior to Closing;
- either party if the other party has committed a material breach of any provision of the Asset Purchase Agreement and such breach has not be cured by such party within five business days of receipt of notice of such breach;
- · either party, if our stockholders have not approved the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business;
- · IKH, if IKH fails to obtain on terms and conditions satisfactory to it funds sufficient to complete the transaction; or by either party on August 31, 2011 if the transactions contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement have not been completed by that date.

Expenses

We and IKH are each responsible for our respective costs and expenses that we or IKH incur in connection with the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Indemnification

Under the Asset Purchase Agreement, Green Tech Products has agreed to indemnify IKH and its representatives and other related parties against any losses, liabilities, damages or expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, which arise from or in connection with: (a) any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made by us in the Asset Purchase Agreement or in any exhibits or schedules thereto or in any certificate or document delivered by us at the Closing, with each representation and warranty being read for this purpose without regard to any "materially," "Material Adverse Effect," "in any material respect" or similar exception or qualifier contained in any such representation or warranty; (b) any breach or nonperformance of any covenant or obligation made by Green Tech Products in the Asset Purchase Agreement or any other agreement contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement; (c) any acts or omissions of Green Tech Products relating to the operations, ownership, condition or conduct of the Molded Rubber Products Business prior to the closing, whether or not disclosed in any schedule to the Asset Purchase Agreement; or (d) any liabilities of the Molded Rubber Products Business retained by Green Tech Products; provided that Green Tech Products' liability for such indemnification claims for breaches of representations and warranties will not exceed the purchase price, and provided further that Green Tech Products will not be required to indemnify IKH for breaches of representations and warranties unless and until the total claims for such indemnification, in the aggregate, equal or exceed \$50,000 and only in the amount in excess of \$50,000. Further, Green Tech Products will not be obligated to indemnify IKH with respect to any representation or warranty in the Asset Purchase Agreement to the extent that Green Tech Products' management team or employees knew or should have known that such representation or warranty is or might be inaccurate.

IKH has agreed to indemnify us and our representatives and other related parties against any losses, liabilities, damages or expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, which arise from or in connection with: (a) any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made by IKH in the Asset Purchase Agreement or in any exhibits or schedules thereto or in any certificate or document delivered by IKH at the Closing, with each representation and warranty being read for this purpose without regard to any "materially," "Material Adverse Effect," "in any material respect" or similar exception or qualifier contained in any such representation or warranty; or (b) any breach or nonperformance of any covenant or obligation made by IKH in the Asset Purchase Agreement or any other agreement contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement; provided that the liability of IKH for such indemnification claims for breaches of representations and warranties shall not exceed an amount equal to the purchase price, and provided further that IKH will not be required to indemnify us for breaches of representations and warranties unless and until the total claims for such indemnification, in the aggregate, equal or exceed \$50,000 and only in the amount in excess of \$50,000. Further, IKH will not be obligated to indemnify us with respect to any representation or warranty in the Asset Purchase Agreement to the extent that we had actual knowledge that such representation or warranty is inaccurate. In addition, subject to certain procedural requirements, IKH will have the right to offset the amount of any indemnification claims it may have against any amounts due and payable under the \$100,000 promissory note IKH will deliver to us at the closing.

All claims for indemnification, whether by Green Tech Products or by IKH, must be made within 18 months after the completion of the sale, except that (i) indemnification claims with respect to Green Tech Products' representations and warranties relating to certain intellectual property, environmental matters and tax matters may be made at any time prior to the third month after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, and (ii) indemnification claims with respect to representations and warranties relating to the respective parties' due organization, qualification to do business, authority to consummate the transaction and title to the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business may be made indefinitely at any time following the closing.

Certain Material Federal and State Income Tax Consequences

This is a summary of the principal material United States federal and state income tax consequences relating to the proposed sale of assets.

The proposed sale of assets may be a transaction taxable to us for United States federal and state income tax purposes. We will recognize taxable income equal to the amount realized on the sale in excess of our tax basis in the assets sold. The amount realized on the sale will consist of the cash we receive in exchange for the assets sold, the stock inventory credit plus the amount of related liabilities assumed by IKH. Although the sale of the assets may result in a taxable gain to us, we believe any taxable gain on a federal and state tax basis would be offset against our current year losses from operations plus available net operating loss carry forwards, as currently reflected on our consolidated federal and state income tax returns.

The proposed sale of the assets will not be a taxable event for our stockholders under applicable United States federal income tax laws.

This summary does not consider the effect of any applicable foreign, state, local or other tax laws nor does it address tax consequences applicable to stockholders that may be subject to special federal income tax rules. This summary is based on the current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, existing, temporary, and proposed Treasury regulations thereunder, and current administrative rulings and court decisions. Future legislative, judicial or administrative actions or decisions, which may be retroactive in effect, may affect the accuracy of any statements in this summary with respect to the transactions entered into or contemplated prior to the effective date of those changes.

Accounting Treatment

We will record the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. Upon completion of the disposition, we will recognize a gain for financial reporting purposes equal to the net proceeds (the sum of the purchase price, including all liabilities assumed, less the expenses

of the sale) less the book value of the assets sold.

Regulatory Approvals

We are not aware of any federal or state regulatory requirements that must be complied with or approvals that must be obtained to complete the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business, other than the filing of this proxy statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission. If any additional approvals or filings are required, we will use our commercially reasonable efforts to obtain those approvals and make any required filings before completing the transactions.

No Changes to the Rights of Stockholders

There will be no change in the rights of our stockholders as a result of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

No Appraisal Rights

Our stockholders do not have appraisal rights under the Delaware General Corporation Law in connection with the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Required Vote

Our Board of Directors believes that the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business does not constitute a sale of "all or substantially all" of our assets for purposes of Section 271 of the Delaware General Corporate Law, and accordingly, our Board of Directors believes that approval of our stockholders is not required as a matter of Delaware law. The analysis of whether the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business is subject to Section 271 is, however, inherently fact-driven and, if a court of competent jurisdiction were asked to determine whether Section 271 applied, its analysis would depend, among other things, on its views on the relative fair market value of the assets sold as compared to the fair market value of the assets retained following the transaction. To eliminate any uncertainty, Green Tech Products and IKH agreed that the transaction would be conditioned upon an approval of our stockholders. Our Board of Directors has determined to seek the approval of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date, so that such approval that would meet the requirements of Section 271 if Section 271 applied. Our Board of Directors also considered such approval to be a matter of good corporate governance. Because the transaction will be subject to stockholder approval by the stockholder vote that would otherwise be required if we were to sell all or substantially all of our assets, we believe that stockholder approval of the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business would ensure that the transaction has satisfied the requirements of Section 271 if a court of competent jurisdiction ever determined that Section 271 applied to such transaction.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares or our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date is therefore required to approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business. For this purpose, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business. Properly executed proxies that do not contain voting instructions will be voted "FOR" the approval of the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business.

Based in part on the determination of the full Board of Directors, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors has determined that the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business does not represent a sale of all or substantially all of our assets for purposes of our 2005 Stock Option Plan, as amended, any awards issued thereunder, or any severance or similar agreements we have with any of our employees. Accordingly, we will not deem the transaction to be an event that triggers the acceleration of vesting of stock options, restricted stock or restricted stock units, or the payment of severance, alone (a "single-trigger") or in combination with a termination of service (a "double-trigger"). It is possible, however, that one or more employees will disagree with such conclusion and initiate legal action to receive benefits that would be available if the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business were deemed a sale of all or substantially of our assets and other conditions set forth in the applicable plan or agreement were satisfied. We cannot assure you that we would prevail in any such action. Similarly, we do not believe that the sale of substantially all the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business represents the sale of all or substantially all of our assets for purposes of certain promissory notes that become due and payable upon the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets. It is possible, however, that one or more note holders will disagree with such conclusion and initiate legal action to recover the principal amount of such notes, together with all accrued interest and costs of collection.

None of our executive officers has any agreement or understanding concerning any type of compensation (whether present, deferred, or contingent) that is based on or otherwise relates to the completion of the sale of the assets of the Molded Rubber Products Business and that has not been waived. Accordingly, we are not requesting an advisory vote of our stockholders with respect to any such compensation.

Recommendation of Our Board of Directors Regarding the Sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business

For the reasons described above, our Board of Directors has determined that the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement is in the best interests of the Company and our stockholders. Accordingly, our Board of Directors has unanimously approved the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business and recommends to our stockholders that they vote "FOR" approval of Proposal No. 1.

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote "FOR" the approval of the proposed sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement by completing and returning the enclosed proxy or by completing and returning the voting instructions that you receive from the broker or other nominee that holds your shares.

PROPOSAL NO. 2

PROPOSAL TO INCREASE AUTHORIZED SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

Purpose

The Board of Directors has recommended to the stockholders that our Company amend its Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000 shares. The text of the proposed amendment is set forth in *Appendix D* to this Proxy Statement.

As of May 31, 2011, there were 36,034,908 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding, and we had reserved approximately 9,871,088 additional shares for future issuance. These reserved shares include: 5,898,500 shares for issuance upon exercise of awards granted under our 1993 Stock Option Plan, 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, 2005 Stock Option Plan, 874,746 shares for issuance upon exercise of other stock options and stock purchase warrants and 3,097,842 shares for issuance upon the conversion of certain convertible promissory notes.

If this proposal is approved, the Board of Directors will have the authority to issue approximately 54,090,000 additional shares of common stock as of May 31, 2011, not including shares already reserved for issuance, as described above, without further stockholder approval. The Board of Directors believes that the increase in the number of authorized shares of common stock is in the best interests of our Company and our stockholders. The Board of Directors believes that the authorized common stock should be increased to provide sufficient shares for such corporate purposes as may be determined by the Board of Directors. These purposes may include, among others, the issuance of common stock to facilitate potential mergers or acquisitions, raising capital or acquiring technology rights through the sale of stock, and/or attracting or retaining valuable employees by the issuance of stock options. Except as described above or elsewhere in this proxy statement, we have no plans, understandings, commitments, agreements or undertakings concerning the issuance of any such additional shares. The Board of Directors, however, considers the authorization of additional shares of common stock advisable to ensure prompt availability of shares for issuance should the occasion arise.

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Board of Directors generally may issue authorized but unissued shares of common stock without further stockholder approval. The Board of Directors does not currently intend to seek stockholder approval prior to any future issuance of additional shares of common stock, unless stockholder action is required in a specific case by applicable law, the rules of any exchange or market on which our securities may then be listed or traded, or our Restated Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws then in effect. Frequently, opportunities arise that require prompt action, and we believe that delay necessitated for stockholder approval of a specific issuance could be detrimental to our Company and our stockholders.

The additional shares of common stock authorized for issuance pursuant to this proposal will have the rights and privileges which the presently outstanding shares of common stock possess under our Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Shares of our common stock, including the additional shares proposed for authorization, do not have preemptive or similar rights. The increase in authorized shares would not affect the terms or rights of holders of existing shares of common stock. The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the holders of common stock, however, may be subordinate to the rights of the holders of the any preferred stock which may be issued from time to time. All outstanding shares of common stock would continue to have one vote per share on all matters to be voted on by the stockholders, including the election of directors.

The issuance of any additional shares of common stock by our Company may, depending on the circumstances under which those shares are issued, reduce stockholders' equity per share and, unless additional shares are issued to all stockholders on a pro rata basis, will reduce the percentage ownership of common stock of existing stockholders. We expect, however, to receive consideration for any additional shares of common stock issued, thereby reducing or eliminating any adverse economic effect to each stockholder of such dilution.

The authorized but unissued shares of common stock could be used to make a change in control of our Company more difficult. For example, such shares could be sold to purchasers who might side with the Board of Directors in opposing a takeover bid that the Board determines not to be in the best interests of our Company and our stockholders. Such a sale could have the effect of discouraging an attempt by another person or entity, through the acquisition of a substantial number of shares of our common stock, to acquire control of our Company since the issuance of new shares could be used to dilute the stock ownership of the acquirer. Our Restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws contain certain provisions, including the grant of authority to the Board of Directors to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series (with such rights and preferences as the Board may determine), without the approval of stockholders, and certain provisions relating to the calling of stockholder meetings and the conduct of such meetings, that may be considered to have an anti-takeover effect. We are not aware of any pending or threatened efforts to obtain control of our Company, and the Board of Directors has no current intention to use the additional shares of common stock to impede a takeover attempt or to propose any additional anti-takeover measures in future proxy solicitations.

Required Stockholder Vote to Approve the Adjournment Proposal

Approval of the amendment to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock will require the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date. Abstentions will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal; broker non-votes will have no outcome on the vote.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors

The Board of Directors recommends a vote for the approval of the amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of Common Stock from 60,000,000 to 100,000,000.

PROPOSAL 3

ADJOURNMENT

Purpose

In the event there are not sufficient votes present, in person or by proxy, at the Special Meeting to approve the sale of the Molded Rubber Products Business or the increase in the number of authorized shares of our common stock, our chief executive officer or other officer, acting in his capacity as chairperson of the meeting, may propose an

adjournment of the Special Meeting to a later date or dates to permit further solicitation of proxies.

Required Stockholder Vote to Approve the Adjournment Proposal

Approval of the adjournment proposal will require that the number of votes cast in favor of the proposal exceed the number of votes cast against it. Assuming the presence of a quorum, abstentions, broker "non-votes" and shares not represented at the Special Meeting will have no effect on the adjournment proposal.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that our stockholders vote "FOR" approval of Proposal No. 3 to adjourn the Special Meeting, if necessary to obtain the requisite number of proxies to approve Proposal No. 1 and/or Proposal No. 2.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES

General Information

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information sets forth the pro forma consolidated results of operations of GreenMan Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") for the six months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 and the pro forma consolidated financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2011 as if we had sold the Green Tech Products for their estimated fair value of \$150,000.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations for the six months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 have been derived from the Company's historical consolidated financial information and give effect to the following transaction as if it had occurred on October 1, 2009 (the earliest period presented). In addition, the unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2011 has been derived from the Company's historical consolidated financial information and gives effect to the following transaction as if it had occurred on March 31, 2010:

Transaction — Based on the historical operating losses associated with our molded recycled rubber product subsidiary and our Board of Director's intent devote all corporate resources to advancing our dual fuel conversion business, our Board of Directors has determined it to be in the best interest of shareholder value to exit the molded recycled rubber product business. Accordingly, on March 8, 2011, our Board of Directors adopted a plan to commence an immediate effort to identify potential buyers for our molded recycled rubber products business and/or evaluate other strategic alternatives. As a result, we wrote down all molded recycled rubber product net operating assets and liabilities to their estimated fair value at March 31, 2011 and recorded a non-cash impairment loss and inventory valuation allowance of \$448,879 at March 31, 2011.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X and should be read in conjunction with the Company's historical audited consolidated financial statements.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information does not purport to represent what the Company's consolidated results of operations or consolidated financial position would have been if this transaction had occurred on the date indicated and are not intended to project the Company's consolidated results of operations or consolidated financial position for any future period or date.

The unaudited pro forma adjustments are based on estimates and certain assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable. The unaudited consolidated pro forma adjustments and primary assumptions are described in the accompanying notes herein.

GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Pro Forma Unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheet

As of March 31, 2011

ACCETC	GreenMan Historical Consolidated	Disposal Molded Rubber Product Business	of Business Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Consolidated
ASSETS Cash	\$194,483	\$ 22,297	\$ <i>—</i>	\$172,186
Certificates of deposit, restricted	557,500	Ψ <i>22,271</i>	Ψ——	557,500
Accounts receivable, net	736,055	244,091		491,964
Inventory	835,966	599,697		236,269
Net value of assets held for sale	_	_	150,000 (Ic	•
Other current assets	542,732	27,628	_	515,104
Total current assets	2,866,736	893,713	150,000	2,123,023
Property, plant and equipment	819,876	358,000		461,876
Other assets	1,530,815	150		1,530,665
Total assets	\$5,217,427	\$ 1,251,863	\$ 150,000	\$4,115,564
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Accounts Payable Accrued expenses and other liabilities Notes payable, current Notes payable, related party, current	\$1,119,150 1,109,925 2,124,672 299,589	\$ 316,880 352,619 221,427	\$— — —	\$802,270 757,306 1,903,245 299,589
Obligations under lease settlement, current	68,518	_		68,518
Total current liabilities	4,721,854	890,926		3,830,928
Notes payable, non-current	326,482	210,937	_	115,545
Obligations under lease settlement, non-current	505,540	_	_	505,540
Convertible notes payable	397,446	_		397,446
Total liabilities	5,951,322	1,101,863		4,849,459
Preferred stock Common stock Additional paid in capital Common shares held as collateral	360,322 39,621,852 (20,000)			360,322 39,621,852 (20,000)
Accumulated deficit Total stockholders' equity	(40,696,069) (733,895)		150,000 (Ic 150,000	(40,696,069) (733,895)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$5,217,427	\$ 1,251,863	\$ 150,000	\$4,115,564

GREENMAN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Pro Forma Unaudited Consolidated Statement of Operations

Six Months Ended March 31, 2011

GreenMan Disposal of Business

Historical Molded Rubber Pro Forma Pro Forma Consolidated Product Business Adjustments Consolidated

Net sales